## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2007-TS-00209

YASMIN HUGHES

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WINSTON COUNTY

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT YASMIN HUGHES

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

James T. McCafferty Attorney for Appellant Yasmin Hughes Box 5092 Jackson, MS 39296 601.366.3506 Bar No

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2007-TS-00209

YASMIN HUGHES

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE YASMIN GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY OR AGGRAVATED ASSAULT

Yasmin Did Nothing to Aid and Abet
the Crimes of Armed Robbery or Aggravated Assault
The Jury Was Required to Accept a Reasonable.
Hypothesis Consistent with Yasmin's Innocence.
With Respect to the Armed Robbery Charge,
the Elements of Robbery Were Not Proven.

- II. EVEN IF THE EVIDENCE IS CONSIDERED SUFFICIENT, IT IS OF SUCH A NATURE AS TO CREATE A SERIOUS DOUBT AND THE CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CASE REMANDED FOR A NEW TRIAL.
- III. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS COMMUNICATION WITH AND INSTRUCTION OF THE JURY

Such Communications Between Judge and Jury
After Deliberations Begin Are Prohibited Generally.
Court Failed to Ascertain Exactly What the Jury Intended to Ask.
Court's Note to Jury Erroneously Emphasized a Single Instruction.

IV. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT REQUIRES REVERSAL.

Prosecutor Impermissibly Argued Facts Outside Record.
Prosecutorial Misconduct Violated
Appellant's Constitutional Rights.

V. APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The Sentence Unconstitutionally Punished
Yasmin for Exercising His Right to Trial.
The Sentence Was Manifestly
Disproportional Given Yasmin's Role in the Incident.

VI. OTHER ERRORS.

Instruction C-5 (No. 3) Was Incomplete and Confusing. Trial Court Erred in Denying Motion to Quash Venire. Cumulative Error Requires Reversal.

### STATEMENT CONCERNING REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant believes oral argument would be helpful in this case because it is an unusual case in that involves insufficient evidence, communications by the trial court with the jury during jury deliberations, and sentencing apparently enhanced due to exercise of appellant's right to trial. Because these issues all involve rather intricate factual, as well as legal, questions, the Court should find oral argument beneficial.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

#### PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

Appellant Yasmin Hughes [Yasmin, herein] was indicted September 26, 2007, by a grand jury of Grenada County on one count of armed robbery¹ and two counts of aggravated assault² in the robbery of Jack Warner, Jr., and the shooting of Mr. Warner and his wife, Pat Warner, on or about May 2, 2006. CP 3-4, RE 6-7. Also indicted was Adrion Webster. Webster pled guilty to the two counts of aggravated assault and the armed robbery charge was dropped. Yasmin pled not guilty and was tried November 27, 2006, [T 1] and convicted on all three counts. T 196, CP 29-30, RE 29-30. Yasmin was sentenced on December 6, 2006, to 30 years on the armed robbery charge and to 20 years each on the two aggravated assault charges, all to be served concurrently. T 213-214, CP 47-48. Yasmin now appeals his convictions and sentences. CP 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79. Copies of all statutes cited herein may be found in the Appendix hereto at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-7 (2) (b).

### FACTS OF THE CASE

It is undisputed that the victims, farmer and fertilizer vendor Jack "Bubba" Warner, and his wife, were shot. They were shot by Adrion Webster, though, and not by Yasmin Hughes. Yasmin was present with Webster when Webster approached Warner's house simply because he had followed Webster at Webster's request. It was uncontested that Yasmin did not have a gun, did not say anything, did not do anything, and indeed started walking off before any shot was fired. While Yasmin gave a statement saying that immediately prior to this incident, he was riding in a truck that Webster was driving and they talked about different ways of making money, including robbery, the lead investigator testified there was no evidence that Yasmin knew in advance that Webster was armed with a gun. T 130. Yasmin did nothing to aid and abet Webster and since he did not know Webster had a gun, there is no way Yasmin could be guilty of either aggravated assault or armed robbery.

Jack Warner testified that on May 2, 2006, around ten p.m., he was at home. "It was a cool night," according to Warner, "sort of a springy, summer kind of day. We had the air conditioner off. The doors were open. The windows were up." T 80.

Responding to a knock at the door, Warner found a young black man, who turned out to be Adrion Webster, standing inside his carport. T 81-84. Warner asked if he could help him. T 81.

Warner testified that Webster told Warner he had run out of gas, and he asked to use Warner's phone. Warner retrieved his cordless phone from within the house and went into the carport to give it to Webster. T 82. Webster spoke on the phone, then returned the phone to Warner. T 87. As Warner stepped outside to take the phone, he first noticed another young man, who turned out to be Yasmin Hughes, standing "a couple of feet behind" Webster. T 81, T 94-95. Webster was three or

four feet away from Warner. T 81. Yasmin, who was wearing a black sweatshirt, "pulled the hood [of the sweatshirt] over his head . . . and walked off." T 98.

Warner said he told Webster that he "had a gallon or two of gas somewhere in a can." T 87-88. Webster refused the offer, saying "They are bringing us some gas." T 88. Webster took a step back as if he were leaving. T 88.

Warner testified that as he turned to go back into the house, he heard a noise "like a loud firecracker." Warner turned, and "it went off again and again." T 88. Warner looked and saw that Adrion Webster had a gun and was shooting at him. Webster also shot twice at Warner's wife, Pat Warner, hitting her in the leg. T 92. Warner cursed Webster and ran toward him. Webster shot once more, hitting Warner in the groin. T 92. Warner was shot by Webster a total of four times. T 92.

Warner testified that neither Webster nor Yasmin entered the house, took anything, or demanded anything from him or his wife. T 94, 98. Warner also testified, emphatically, that Yasmin Hughes did not shoot anyone, did not have a gun, did not ask to use the phone, did not demand or ask for anything whatsoever, and did not even speak. T 94. Instead, he walked off before there was any shooting. T 98.

An ensuing investigation determined that Webster's call had been made to an answering machine at the home of Talmadge Edwards, the uncle of Yasmin Hughes. Yasmin was living in Mr. Edwards home. T 106-107. Based on that investigation, police interviewed Yasmin. Yasmin gave a statement to Investigator Greg Clark of the Louisville Police Department. In that statement, Yasmin said he was riding around Louisville in a car driven by Webster. According to the statement:

We got into a conversation about money and ways to make money. We were talking about hustling, robbing and even right ways to make

<sup>3</sup>Mr. Warner testified that it was a cool night. T 80.

money. [Webster] asked to use my phone and I told him I didn't have it. He pulled over and told me to walk up to someone [sic] house with him so he could use the phone. A man answer [sic] the door and let [Webster] use the phone book.

Exhibit S-24, RE 38. Yasmin said in the statement that during the conversation at the door, he left and was walking away when he "heard gun shots. I ran and didn't look back." Ex. 24, RE 38. According to Investigator Clark, Yasmin also told him that the ways of making money they discussed included things such as barber school. T 111. He said Yasmin also said that when Webster arrived back at the vehicle after the shooting, Webster said, "Why did you run? That was our lick." T 116.

Investigator Clark testified that Yasmin's statement about having left to walk away before the shooting was confirmed by the victim, Mr. Warner, who gave Clark a statement saying that Yasmin "had already pulled his hood over his head and walked off" when the shots were fired. T 129. Clark said Warner's statement was consistent with Yasmin's. Id. More importantly, Clark testified that investigators found no evidence that Yasmin knew Webster had a gun when they went to Warner's house. T 130.

Q. You don't have any evidence that Yasmin knew that Adrion had a gun before he walked up that driveway, do you?

A. I do not.

Id.

During jury deliberations, the bailiff handed a note to the trial judge from the jury. The note said: "Is Yasmin being charged with armed or attempted robbery?" CP 42, RE 20. Over objection of the defendant, the court replied as follows:

You must consider all of the instructions the Court has given you. The elements of the crimes charged are contained in Instruction #2.

T 193-94.

Yasmin was convicted on all three counts. He was sentenced to thirty years on the armed robbery count, to be served day for day, and twenty years on each of the aggravated assault counts, with all sentences to be served concurrently. T 213-14, RE 32-33. In sentencing Yasmin, the trial judge pointed out that a request for "leniency and mercy" had been made, but that "when you are offered leniency and mercy, sometimes you have got to pick it up." He explained that Yasmin had been offered a plea to a ten year sentence for aggravated assault with the armed robbery charge dismissed, but had decided "to take his chances and go to trial" and "by taking that gamble, he . . . is now convicted of three charges." T 212.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE YASMIN GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY OR AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

In this case the Appellant, Yasmin Hughes, was convicted of armed robbery and aggravated assault against Mr. and Mrs. Warner, both of whom were shot by Webster, not a party herein. Yasmin was merely present. A conviction for aiding and abetting a felony, the prosecution must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis" that (1) a crime was committed; (2) that the accused was present at the scene of the crime; (3) that he consented to the crime; and (4) that he actually aided and abetted the principal in the commission of such crime(s). Brooks v. State, 763 So. 2d 859, 861 (Miss. 2000).

There Is No Evidence Yasmin Knew Webster Had a Gun or That an Armed Robbery or Aggravated Assault Would Be Committed

An aider and abetter must have the same intent as the principal and must intend to commit the crime charged, and the principal's intent may not be imputed to anyone else. *United States v. Murray*, 988 F. 2d 518, 522 (5th Cir. 1993). Lead investigator Clark testified there was no

evidence that Yasmin knew Adrion Webster had a gun when they went to Mr. Warner's house or that there was any plan to rob the Warners. T 130. The conviction cannot be sustained.

### Yasmin Did Nothing to Aid and Abet the Crimes of Armed Robbery or Aggravated Assault

Yasmin did nothing to aid or abet Webster's crimes. Victim Jack Warner testified that Yasmin did not have a gun, did not demand or ask for anything, and did not speak. Mere presence at the scene--even with knowledge that a crime is going to occur and a failure to stop itis not enough to convict a person of that crime. *Harper v. State*, 83 Miss. 402, 415, 35 So. 572 (Miss. 1903); *United States v. James*, 528 F. 2d 999 (5th Cir. 1976).

The Jury Was Required to Accept a Reasonable Hypothesis Consistent with Yasmin's Innocence.

To convict as an aider and abettor, the State must "exclude every other reasonable hypothesis than that of guilt." *Pryor v. State*, 239 So. 2d 911 (Miss. 1970) 239 So. 2d at 913. The State did not do that. There remained a reasonable hypothesis that Yasmin did not commit the crimes of which he was convicted: Webster was driving, he asked Yasmin to accompany him to a house to borrow a phone, and Yasmin did that.

With Respect to the Armed Robbery Charge, the Elements of Robbery Were Not Proven

The armed robbery statute requires a taking or an "attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another . . . by violence to his person or . . . by the exhibition of a deadly weapon. . . . " Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79. There was no proof Yasmin knew violence would be used or a deadly weapon exhibited. Neither was there proof of a taking or attempted taking by either Yasmin or Webster. Webster pled guilty to two counts of

aggravated assault, but the armed robbery charge against him was dropped. Yasmine's armed robbery conviction cannot stand. *Anderson v. State*, 168 Miss. 424, 151 So. 558 (1934).

II. EVEN IF THE EVIDENCE IS CONSIDERED SUFFICIENT, IT IS OF SUCH A NATURE AS TO CREATE A SERIOUS DOUBT AND THE CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CASE REMANDED FOR A NEW TRIAL.

At minimum this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial because the verdict was against "the great weight of the evidence." *Quarles v. State*, 199 So. 2d 58 (Miss. 1967). The lead investigator admitted there was no evidence that Yasmin knew Webster had a gun and therefore no evidence Yasmin knew in advance of any armed robbery or aggravated assault. Yasmin did nothing to aid and abet Webster. Yasmine had no weapon, took nothing, demanded nothing. He remained silent. Webster took nothing nor demanded anything. At the very least, the case should be remanded for a new trial.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS COMMUNICATION WITH AND INSTRUCTION OF THE JURY.

After the jury retired it asked the court in writing this: "Is Yasmin being charged with armed or attempted robbery?" The trial judge, over defense objection, replied:

You must consider all of the instructions the Court has given you. The elements of the crimes charged are contained in Instruction #2.

The court thereby erred in at least three respects.

Such Communications Between Judge and Jury After Deliberations Begin Are Prohibited Generally.

In this case, no further instruction was necessary. All the lower court did by sending the note was to impermissibly call attention to a specific instruction. *Haynes v. State*, 451 So. 2d 227 (Miss. 1984).

Court Failed to Ascertain Exactly What the Jury Intended to Ask.

It is clear from the question that the Jury was confused as to the charge against Yasmin. Yet, in more than six pages of transcript devoted to this issue, the Court made no effort to determine exactly what the jury wanted to know, which was error. *Girton v. State*, 446 So. 2d 570, 573 (Miss. 1984).

Court's Note to Jury Erroneously Emphasized a Single Instruction.

Any instruction by the court that singles out a specific instruction violates the principle that instructions must be read as a whole. By emphasizing the "elements of the crimes" in instruction no. 2, the court quite likely deflected the jury's attention from Instruction no. 3, an instruction that would have required a verdict of not guilty from an unbiased jury under the circumstances of this case. *Haynes v. State*, 451 So. 2d 227 (Miss. 1984).

## IV. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT REQUIRES REVERSAL.

Prosecutor Impermissibly Argued Facts Outside Record.

The prosecutor roamed far beyond the record in his closing which was inherently unfair and is grounds for reversal. *Cabello v. State*, 471 So. 2d 332, *certiorari denied*, 476 U. S. 1165, 106 S. Ct. 2291, 90 L. Ed. 2d 732 (Miss. 1985).

# Prosecutorial Misconduct Violated Appellant's Constitutional Rights.

If a prosecutor knew or should have known that an argument or evidentiary implication was false and went forward with it any way, such amounted to prosecutorial misconduct.

\*Barrientes v. Johnson\*, 221 F. 3d 741, 754 (5th Cir. 2000). Without doubt, the prosecutor's misconstruction of the evidence amounted to such prejudicial misconduct, which requires reversal.

### V. APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The Sentence Unconstitutionally Punished Yasmin for Exercising His Right to Trial

Any doubt as to whether the exercise of the right to trial was considered by the lower court in determining the sentence must be resolved in favor of the defendant. Fermo v. State, 370 So. 2d 930, 932 (Miss. 1979). At the time of sentencing, the trial judge in this case noted that Yasmine was offered a sentence of ten years on aggravated assault but took "his chances and [went] to trial." The court's comments in their entirety strongly implied enhancement of the sentence to due Yasmine's failure to plea bargain. This case must be remanded for resentencing.

The Sentence Was Manifestly
Disproportional Given Yasmin's Role in the Incident.

As stated earlier in this brief, Yasmin did not hold a gun, shoot a gun, ask to use a phone, take anything, demand anything, or say anything. The lead investigator admitted there is no proof Yasmin knew Webster had a gun. Any role that Yasmin had was minimal. Under the circumstances, the sentence is manifestly disproportional. *Hart v. State*, 639 So. 2d 1313, 1319 (Miss. 1994).

#### VI. OTHER ERRORS.

There were other errors, that together with the cumulative effect of all errors, only added to the prejudicial effect of the errors more fully argued above, and mandate reversal. Ross v. State, Supreme Court of Mississippi, No. 1998-DP-01038-SCT (April 26, 2007), ¶ 138.

#### ARGUMENT.

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE YASMIN GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY OR AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

It is an ancient principle of law that while a verdict of a jury should not be lightly set aside, a conviction cannot be permitted to stand where the verdict is clearly not supported by evidence.

Allen v. State, 1 Miss. Dec. 126 (1885); Conner v. State, 632 So. 2d 1239 (Miss.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 314, 130 L. Ed. 276 (1993). Moreover, the state must make its case to a moral certainty. An accused need only raise reasonable doubt of guilt to be entitled to an acquittal.

Cumberland v. State, 110 Miss. 521, 531, 70 So. 695, 696 (1915). Where the evidence is such that on one or more elements of the offense charged no reasonable hypothetical juror could have resolved the issue against the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, the Supreme Court has no authority to affirm and must order the defendant discharged. Bullock v. State, 447 So. 2d 1284, 1287 (Miss. 1984).

In this case, the Appellant, Yasmin Hughes, did not shoot or rob anyone and was not the principal. In order to convict a defendant of aiding and abetting a felony, the prosecution must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis" that (1) a crime was committed; (2) that the accused was present at the scene of the crime; (3) that he consented to the crime; and (4) that he actually aided and abetted the principal in the commission of such crime(s). Brooks v. State, 763 So. 2d 859, 861 (Miss. 2000); Gibbs v. State, 77 So. 2d 705 (Miss. 1995); See also, United States v. Murray, 988 F. 2d 518, 522 (reversing conviction for aiding and abetting in the sale of a firearm to a convicted felon when there was insufficient proof the defendant knew the buyer was a felon; the knowledge of the principal could not be imputed to the person who allegedly aided and abetted). While Yasmin said in his statement that

the two discussed robbery as a way to make money, there is no evidence he knew about any firearm, and therefore no evidence of knowledge that the crimes for which he was convicted — armed robbery and aggravated assault — were going to occur. And while there was testimony by Investigator Clark that Yasmin told him Webster said, "why did you run, that was our lick," when they returned to the car, T 116, that occurred after the fact and provides no evidence Yasmin knew Webster had a gun or was going to assault anyone. As Investigator Clark admitted, there was no evidence Yasmin knew about the gun. Clark admitted also admitted that there was no evidence that Webster or Yasmin had any plan to rob anyone. T 111. Accordingly, Yasmine cannot be guilty of armed robbery or aggravated assault.

### Yasmin Did Nothing to Aid and Abet the Crimes of Armed Robbery or Aggravated Assault

Even if Yasmin had known Webster had a gun and that he was going to commit 'an armed robbery and aggravated assault, Yasmin did nothing to aid or abet those crimes. The victim, Jack Warner, testified that Yasmin did not shoot anyone, did not have a gun, did not ask to use the phone, did not demand or ask for anything, and did not speak. T 94. Mere presence at the scene-even with knowledge that a crime is going to occur and a failure to stop it-- is not enough to convict a person of that crime.

Proof that one has stood by at the commission of a crime without taking any steps to prevent it does not alone indicate such participation or combination in the wrong done as to show criminal liability, although he approves of the act. Even the fact of previous knowledge that a felony was intended will not render one who has concealed such knowledge and is present at the commission of the offense a party thereto.

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