IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COPY

YASMINE HUGHES

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED
SEP 17 2007
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0209

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Well, I don't believe it is prejudicial. ... I don't think that singles out any instruction to the prejudice of the jury in light of the fact that the only other two instructions we have are an accessory instruction and the failure to testify instruction. And I think in light of this note, I'm going to give this.

(T.194)

The court then sent this instruction to the jury: "You must consider all of the instructions the Court has given to you. The elements of the crimes charged are contained in Instruction

#2.” (C.P.43)

“[T]here is no doubt that the trial court had the authority” to give a supplemental instruction to the jury. *Payton v. State*, 897 So.2d 921, 956 (Miss.2003), citing URCCC 3.10. Indeed, “[n]othing in our law provides that once the jury retires the trial judge should become a mute.” *Wright v. State*, 512 So.2d 679, 681 (Miss.1987). The court’s decision to do so is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Woods v. State*, ___ So.2d ___(Miss. App., decided August 21, 2007) (2007 WL2367102).

In this case, before advising the jurors that the elements were contained in Instruction 2, the trial court reminded them that they were to consider all of the instructions given by the court. The court already had instructed the jurors that there were “not to single out one instruction alone as stating the law,” but that they “must consider these instructions as a whole.”⁵ (C.P.30) Thus, “[t]he problem normally attendant upon supplemental instructions” was obviated. *Wright*, 512 So.2d at 681. See also *Williams v. State*, 928 So.2d 867 (Miss. App. 2005). In the second and final sentence of the supplemental instruction, the court simply informed the jurors that the elements of the crime charged were contained in Instruction 2.

The state contends that under these circumstances, the court’s supplemental instruction did not create an injustice. Thus, no error occurred. *Payton*, 897 So.2d at 856. Again, the state submits that the supplemental instruction reminded the jury to consider all of the instructions before it simply pointed out that the elements were contained in

⁵ Of course, the jury is presumed to have followed these instructions. *Payton*, 897 So.2d at 856.

Instruction 2. It is difficult to envision how this instruction could have confused the jury or prejudiced the defense. Hughes's third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION THREE:

**HUGHES'S CHALLENGE TO THE STATE'S FINAL CLOSING ARGUMENT
IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED; ALTERNATIVELY, THE STATE
CONTENDS THIS PROPOSITION LACKS
SUBSTANTIVE MERIT AS WELL**

Hughes argues additionally that prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He challenges several comments made during the state's final closing argument, contending that they violated his right to a fair trial.

The initial flaw in this argument is that it is unpreserved for review. A review of the state's rebuttal argument reveals that the defense failed to interpose even a single objection. His failure to object bars consideration of this issue on appeal. *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 779 (Miss.2006); *Moore v. State*, 938 So.2d 1254, 1265 (Miss.2006), citing *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 112 (Miss.2004); *Rushing v. State*, 711 So.2d 450, 455 (Miss.1998).

Solely in the alternative, the state addresses the merits of Hughes's assertion that the prosecutor impermissibly argued facts not in evidence. At the outset, the state submits that "[t]he purpose of a closing argument is to fairly sum up the evidence," and the prosecutor is not only permitted but required to "point out those facts upon which the prosecution contends a verdict of guilty would be proper." *Strohm v. State*, 845 So.2d 691, 700 (Miss. App. 2003), quoting *Rogers v. State*, 796 So.2d 1022, 1027 (Miss.2001). "In general, parties may comment upon any facts introduced into evidence, **and may draw whatever deductions and inferences that seem proper from the facts.**" (emphasis added) *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1002 (Miss.2007), citing *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d

836, 851 (Miss.1998). Counsel “may draw upon literature, history, science, religion, and philosophy as material for his argument.” *Manning v. State*, 929 So.2d 885, 906 (Miss. 2006). “So long as counsel in his address to the jury keeps **fairly within the evidence** and the issues involved, wide latitude of discussion is allowed . . .” (emphasis added) *Clemons v. State*, 320 So.2d 368, 371-72 (Miss.1975), cited in *Havard v. State*, 928 So.2d 771, 797 (Miss.2006).

First, Hughes contests the district attorney’s use of “beyond-the-record anecdotes about supposed crimes ...” (Brief for Appellant 22) (T.184-85) The state counters that this anecdote was simply illustrative and was not objectionable. *Clemons v. State*, 320 So.2d 368, 371 (Miss. 1975).

Hughes faults the district attorney primarily for using the plural pronoun “they” when referring to actions committed by Webster. He contends that because there was no proof that Hughes personally performed these acts, e.g., wielding the gun and making the telephone call, the prosecutor was arguing facts not in evidence. The state counters that the prosecution’s theory of the case against Hughes was that he was acting in concert with Webster. If Hughes did indeed aid and abet Webster in the commission of these offenses, Hughes was criminally responsible for the acts personally committed by Webster. Evidentiary support for this theory was found in Hughes’s own statement and his conduct at the scene of the crime.⁶ Successful prosecution of Hughes did not depend upon

⁶That evidence was discussed under Proposition One of this brief. We incorporate that discussion by reference in contending that the district attorney remained within the evidence and the rational inferences flowing therefrom in making these arguments.

proving that he personally committed the acts in question. The state did not have to prove and did not try to prove that Hughes personally displayed or fired the gun or made the telephone call. The district attorney's use of the pronoun "they" simply bespoke his attempt to prove Hughes guilty as an aider and abettor; it was not and could not reasonably be construed as an argument that Hughes personally performed these acts. Accordingly, these remarks were not objectionable.

Hughes also challenges the district attorney's argument to the effect that Hughes had admitted that before he and Webster went to the Warners' residence, they had talked about "robbing somebody," among other things. (T.185) Hughes's argument to the contrary, this statement has a valid basis in the evidence. Recounting Hughes's second statement, Officer Clark testified on direct examination, "He [Hughes] said we even talked about, you know, maybe who we could rob." (T.111) The district attorney was free to argue this point to the jury.

In light of the foregoing analysis, the state submits Hughes has failed to show that the remarks in question were objectionable, much less that they were "so egregious as to rise to the level of a fundamental denial of a constitutionally-mandated fair trial." *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 851 (Miss.1998). Hughes's fourth proposition is procedurally barred and substantively meritless.

In conclusion, the state points at that the court instructed the jury as follows, in pertinent part:

Arguments, statements and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence. If any argument, statement or remark has no basis in the evidence then you should disregard that argument, statement or remark.

(C.P.31)

This Court has held that reversal is not required when such instruction is given. E.g., *Burns v. State*, 729 So.2d 203, 229 (Miss.1998); *Ormond v. State*, 599 So.2d 951, 961 (Miss.1998).

For these reasons, the state respectfully submits Hughes's fourth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

**HUGHES'S CHALLENGE TO HIS SENTENCES IS PROCEDURALLY
BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT**

Hughes contends additionally that in sentencing him, the trial court unconstitutionally punished him for exercising his right to trial. He also argues that the sentences are disproportional to the crimes. The state counters that Hughes is procedurally barred from raising this issue because he failed to object on this or any other basis at the time of sentencing. (T. 212-14) *Jackson v. State*, 935 So.2d 1108, 1117 (Miss.App.2006).

Solely in the alternative, the state argues that the trial court's comments during sentencing, taken in the context in which they were made, do not support an inference that the court was penalizing Hughes for exercising his right to trial. During the sentencing hearing, defense counsel made an extensive plea for leniency.⁷ (T.208-11) The state submits that the trial judge was answering defense counsel's plea, and explaining his sentences in general, when he made these comments:

⁷Defense counsel also stated affirmatively, "I know that this Court does not penalize anybody for exercising their constitutional rights." (T.210)

Well, the facts clearly dispute that he didn't know what was going on. In his own statement, he stated that they had discussed robbing somebody, and here we are in the middle of the night, 10 o'clock in Winston County, and these two go and park their car on a concealed, in a concealed position and walk down the road until they found a house with lights on and go up there with a fictitious story that they are out of gas. I mean to insinuate or so that Mr. Hughes was just along for the ride and had no idea what was going on just does not match the facts in this case. He obviously was a participant.

Whether or not he knew about the gun or whether he knew that Webster was going to kill these people before he robbed them, or there again we will never know that. But we do know he was an active participant in this matter.

There has been another request for leniency, of mercy in this case. You know, when you are offered leniency and mercy, sometimes you have got to pick it up. And Mr. Hughes was offered a sentence of ten years on aggravated assault, which would have been with the possibility of parole. The most he would have had to serve would have probably been 85 percent of that. That is eight and a half years, and after discussions with his father and everybody, the other people involved in this thing, he decided he didn't want that. He wanted to take his chances and go to trial. And of course, when he did, the jury found that he was just as culpable as Mr. Webster. And by doing that, by taking that gamble, he, unlike Mr. Webster, is now convicted of three charges.

Well, not only did he get that offer of leniency, he got one extended to him that he didn't even ask for. The State and the victims in this case agreed for this matter to not go to the jury on sentencing on the armed robbery and left it up to me. Again, had it gone to that jury, my observation is that he would have been, they would have sentenced him to life without parole. And so he is not going to get that, and so he was received leniency on two occasions, one of which he picked up and one he didn't ask for and got. So it's a bad situation for everybody involved in this.

But one of the things people in the country are entitled to, they are entitled to be at their house and be left alone. They are entitled to folks not to come to their house in the middle of the night and shoot them and rob them, and when

people do that to other people, then they have to get what they deserve.

Mr. Hughes, you weren't the shooter. I'm going to give you some, some slight benefit for that but not much. The jury found that you should get as much as the other, as Mr. Webster.

Therefore, on the armed robbery, I sentence you to thirty (30) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. On the aggravated assault charges, I sentence you to two (2) years each and order that those sentences run concurrent with the armed robbery charge.

(T.212-14)

Again, the state points out the absence of an objection, even after defense counsel had acknowledged that this trial judge did not punish defendants for exercising their constitutional rights. The state would submit that defense counsel did not object because he did not interpret the court's comments as an indication of that the court was imposing a penalty on Hughes for insisting on going to trial. Rather, considered in the context of the previous arguments and in the context of the court's other remarks, the language in bold most reasonably may be taken as an explanation of the court's disposition of the post-conviction request for leniency. The most compelling reason appears to be that these were heinous offenses which violated the right of innocent citizens to be secure in their own homes.⁸ (See the language emphasized in italics).

Moreover, had the trial judge desired to "punish" Hughes, he could have imposed

⁸For the record, the state submits that these were senseless, reprehensible crimes. The perpetrators invaded Mr. Warner's property late at night and took advantage of his charitable nature. They very nearly left innocent people dead, widowed or orphaned.

a sentence of more than 30 years on the armed robbery conviction. He also could have ordered that all sentences be served consecutively; yet he did not.

An argument similar to the one advanced by Hughes was rejected as follows in *Hersick v. State*, 904 So.2d 116, 127-28 (Miss.2004):

This Court has repeatedly held that the imposition of a sentence, if it is within the limits prescribed by statute, is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and that the appellate courts will not ordinarily disturb a sentence so imposed." *King v. State*, 857 So.2d 702, 731 (Miss.2003). **Whether the defendant takes responsibility for his or her actions is a fair consideration for the trial court in sentencing.** We find nothing in the record that demonstrates the trial court imposed the maximum sentence to punish Hersick for exercising his right to a jury trial. Thus, this claim is without merit.

(emphasis added)

Accord, *Dunigan v. State*, 915 So.2d 1063, 1072 (Miss.App.2005). If the Court reaches the merits of this argument, it should meet the same fate.

For these reasons, Hughes's fifth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FIVE:

HUGHES'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Hughes finally contends that cumulative error requires the reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument at any time in the trial court and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His seventh proposition is procedurally barred.

In the alternative, the state incorporates its arguments under Propositions One

through Four in asserting that the lack of merit in Hughes's other arguments demonstrates the futility of his final proposition. *Gibson*, 731 So.2d at 1098; *Doss v. State*, 709 So.2d 369, 400 (Miss.1997); *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 861 (Miss.1994). See also *Brown v. State*, 682 So.2d 340, 356 (Miss.1996) ("twenty times zero equals zero"). Hughes's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine lacks substantive merit as well.

Under his final proposition, Hughes asserts additionally Instruction C-5 (No.3) was incomplete and confusing. The state counters that Hughes "failed to raise a contemporaneous objection to this instruction, so the issue is procedurally barred." *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 793 (Miss.2006). (T.159) Under these circumstances, the appellant must rely on the plain error rule. *Watts v. State*, 733 So.2d 214, 233 (Miss.1999). Having failed to provide a rationale for application of that rule, Hughes has failed to sustain his burden of demonstrating error with respect to this issue. E.g., *Acker v. State*, 797 So.2d 966, 971 (Miss.2001) (judgment of trial court is presumed correct; appellant has burden to demonstrate reversible error).

Although no further discussion of this point should be required, the state submits "[t]he plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." *Williams v. State*, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss.2001). Hughes has not shown error, much less plain error, in the granting of this instruction. His argument to the contrary, Instruction C-5 (No.3) did not authorize the jury to convict on the basis of mere presence with intent to assist. In fact, it expressly informed the jury, in part,

Before any person may be held criminally responsible for the acts of others, it is necessary that the accused deliberately associate himself in some way with the crime and participate in it with the intent to bring about the crime.

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